PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The prosecutor here said no truer words than when he told the jury "a crime planned and carried out in hell does not have angels as witnesses." (T 1621) Every witness it called to prove its case (except for the police and medical examiner) had significant felony records. Even friends of the victim had from two to six felony convictions. Witness credibility, always an issue at trial, became even more important in this case.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

An indictment filed in the Circuit Court for Duval County on July 25, 1991 charged Kenneth Hartley with one count of first degree murder with a firearm, armed robbery with a firearm, and kidnapping with a firearm (R 27-28). He pled not guilty to those offenses, and the case proceeded normally for matters of this sort. In particular, the defendant or the state filed the following motions or notices that have some relevance to this appeal:

1. Notice of other crimes, wrongs or acts evidence (R 41, 313).
2. Defendant's Second Motion in Limine (R 97). Hartley sought to prevent the state from introducing any evidence of the his "reputation for violence." Granted in part (R 317).
3. Motion in Limine to prevent the defense from making any reference to statements exculpating Hartley by a Ronald Wright (R 101) Granted (R 348, 363-69).
4. Motion to declare Section 921.141(5)(i) Florida Statutes unconstitutional (R 217). Denied (R 330).
5. Motion to prohibit instruction on aggravating factors 5(h) and 5(i) (R 273). Denied (R 335).
6. Notice of intent to classify defendant as a habitual violent felony offender (R 460).

Hartley was tried before Judge Hudson Olliff, and the jury found the defendant guilty as charged on all offenses (R 426-31). He proceeded to the penalty phase portion of the trial, and after the jury heard more testimony, argument, and instructions, it returned a death recommendation by a vote of

9-3 (R 458).

The court followed that recommendation and sentenced him to death. Justifying that sentence, it found in aggravation,

1. The defendant had been previously convicted of a felony involving the use of threat of violence.
2. The murder was committed during the course of a kidnapping.
3. The murder was committed to avoid or prevent a lawful arrest.
4. The murder was committed for financial gain.
5. The murder was especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel.
6. The murder was committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner without any pretense of moral or legal justification.  
(R 489-94)

In mitigation, the court found that Hartley was intelligent, mature, and had leadership qualities (R 497).

The state had filed a notice of intent to treat Hartley as an habitual violent offender, and the court accordingly found him such (R 460, 485-87). It sentenced him to two consecutive life sentences for the robbery and kidnapping convictions with the provision that he serve the minimum mandatory three years because he had used a gun in both crimes (T 475-78).

This appeal follows.

## STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Gino Mayhew was a seventeen year old high school student who carried a sawed off shotgun in the back seat of his "Blazer." He did so for good reason (T 2008-2009). He was a dope dealer (T 2069). On the evening of April 22, 1991 he parked his car in the Washington Heights apartments in Jacksonville, a particularly dangerous area of town, to sell crack cocaine (T 2069, 2106). Sidney Jones, 33 and a six time convicted felon, was his friend and was helping him sell the stuff by flagging down people who might be going to the other dealers that were also in the vicinity (T 2069-70). It was easy to sell for Gino because he had "big and better rocks to offer to the public." (T 2104) Jones had helped him several times before, and about 11:00 p.m. he decided to buy a "dime" of cocaine from him (T 2073). Gino gave him a rock for his services. After walking a short distance, Jones looked at it and discovered "it was really too small because that wasn't the deal we made the early part of the day." (T 2073).

As he returned to the vehicle, he saw Kenneth Hartley standing next to it, pointing a pistol at Mayhew (T 2075). The defendant told Jones to leave, and he moved off "very, very, very fast." (T 2075) He stopped and looked back at the Blazer. He saw Hartley get in the back seat and another man, Ronnie Ferrell, also climb in (T 2077). Yet a third person, Sylvester Johnson stood in front of the Blazer (T 2077). The car backed up then sped out of the apartment complex with Mayhew looking

very scared (T 2079). Two minutes later Johnson also left, going in the direction the earlier car had gone (T 2083)

As the group left, Juan Brown, a twice convicted felon (T 2131), saw Gino drive past him with "a light skinned male" sitting directly behind him (T 2137). Brown followed him in his car, but eventually lost him as he headed in the direction of Sherwood Park Elementary School (T 2141).

The next day Mayhew's body was found in the car at the school. The victim had been shot six times in the head (T 2038). Hartley, Johnson, and Ferrell were arrested about three weeks later.

The state presented five witnesses who gave the most damning testimony against Hartley. Two of them, Jones and Brown, we have already met. Because witness credibility is the key to this case, however, we need to briefly examine what they and the other men said as well as examine their "curriculum vitae."

#### SIDNEY JONES

After getting his rock of cocaine and seeing Hartley and two others take his friend away, Sidney Jones went to his apartment and smoked the crack (T 2110). He was unemployed and had been for at least two years (T 2094-95). Actually, he did work as a confidential informant for the police, and he was "investigating" Gino Mayhew (T 2120). The officer he reported to had given him a beeper number, but on the night Mayhew was murdered, Jones did not call it because "I was told by him do

not call on off duty hours." (T 2121)

Jones did not report what he knew about Mayhew's abduction and murder until some weeks later because he was scared, and after he had been arrested for a trespass charge. Once in the county jail he felt more secure (T 2090-91). Since his arrest, he had also been charged with armed robbery for which he received a year in prison from Judge Olliff (T 2094).

JUAN BROWN

Brown, as mentioned, had two prior felony convictions, and at the time of Hartley's trial, he was in jail because he had failed to appear for a pre-trial "preparation session" with the state attorney (T 2149). He also was scared to testify, and the police had to seek him out (T 2145). He had grown up with Ronnie Ferrell, and had known of Hartley for several years (T 2132, 2146). He never identified the person sitting behind Mayhew in the Blazer (T 2136-37).

ANTHONY PARKIN

Parkin had five felony convictions (T 2182), and he ran into the defendant in the latter part of May 1991 in the Duval County Jail (T 2185). This witness claimed he overheard Hartley say "I think I really fucked up this time by doing this with that mother fucker Ferrell. I think he's going to turn on me and testify against me when he's just as guilty in doing this as I am." (T 2187) At the time of trial he was awaiting sentencing for a violation of probation and for dealing in stolen property (T 2182). He tried to give himself an early

release from the county jail for which he had been charged with attempted escape (T 2192). While there, he broke several jail windows for which the state accused him of criminal mischief (T 2193, 2210).

A plea agreement provided that he would serve no more than 15 years in prison for the probation violation and the dealing in stolen property charges (T 2183), and significantly, he would not be classified as an habitual offender (T 2183). At the state's recommendation, he was also placed on home detention, but he had had problems with his grandmother, with whom he was living, and he turned himself in and returned to jail (T 2195).

RONALD BRONNER

Bronner had four felony convictions, and at the time of Hartley's trial he was awaiting sentencing for a cocaine trafficking conviction (T 2218-19). The state agreed that he would receive a 25 year prison sentence without being treated as an habitual offender if he testified truthfully against Hartley (T 2219-20). Bronner had known the defendant all his life and was friends with him (T 2221). He had asked Hartley about the shooting, and he purportedly said "the only reason they were saying that because I robbed him two days before he was killed." (T 2224) He also said that he had told Ferrell to "get out of the truck he said you know me, I left my trade mark, left no witnesses." (T 2229) The defendant, according to Bronner, also said he was going to shoot Johnson and Ferrell

because they were "acting so scared." (T 2230)

Bronner had not planned to go to the Sheriff's office with his information because Hartley was his friend (T 2231). He changed his mind when he realized "Gino was a little kid" and it was a cold blooded murder." (T 2231) Although this witness denied bargaining with the police (T 2232), he went to them shortly after he had received a notice of the state's intent to classify him as an habitual offender on the cocaine charge for which he could have received 60 years in prison (T 2238).

ERIC BROOKS

Brooks had two prior convictions, and at the time of the trial he was awaiting sentencing for an armed robbery. The state agreed that he would receive a sentence of no more than 30 years in prison, not be treated as an habitual offender, and not serve a three minimum mandatory sentence he apparently was entitled to (T 2255). In return he would testify truthfully about Hartley. While in the Duval County jail, he and the defendant discussed their cases. Hartley initially denied knowing Mayhew and being involved in his murder (T 2260). Later he told Brooks that he was afraid Ferrell was going to testify against him and "he explained to me what happened, who was involved." (T 2261). Like Bronner, he denied trying to negotiate with the police for a lighter sentence (T 2269), and it was pure coincidence that both men went to the sheriff about the same time with their evidence against Hartley (T 2273).



## SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS

Kenneth Hartley presents 11 issues (5 guilt and 6 penalty phase) for this court's consideration.

ISSUE I. The court allowed the state to introduce evidence that the police had asked Hartley if he knew Gino Mayhew and when he denied it, the officer said that was wrong because they knew he had robbed Mayhew two days before he was killed. The state claimed it needed this evidence, not to show any motive for the murder, but to prove that the defendant knew the victim, and lied about that knowledge. The "fact" of the robbery, however, was irrelevant Williams Rule evidence first because it was merely an allegation of wrong doing. The state presented no proof of the robbery other than the policeman's claim that Hartley had robbed Mayhew. Second, if the evidence survives this initial hurdle, it has another major problem in that there are no significant, unusual similarities between the charged robbery/murder and the earlier robbery. Finally, the evidence of the earlier crime does not put the murder in context.

ISSUE II. Before trial, defense counsel had learned that a Hank Evans had confessed to a Ronald Wright that he had killed Gino Mayhew. He had also sent him a letter that could be viewed as confirming that earlier admission. At the state's instigation the court suppressed any evidence that Evans had admitted committing the crimes for which Hartley had been charged. That was error of constitutional dimension because

Wright's testimony was corroborated by the letter, and as important, Evans was available to deny he had confessed to Wright.

ISSUE III. During the state's opening statement, the prosecutor told the jury that Hartley "was the area tough guy, people in the area where this occurred were afraid of him." Even though the court twice sustained the defendant's objection to the repeated reference to his character, it should have declared a mistrial. First, the state made an issue that the defendant was the neighborhood bully when he had never made any claim that he was some sort of latter day Saint Nicholas. Second, even though several witnesses said they were afraid to testify, such fear was never explicitly linked to Hartley. Sidney Jones, for example, continued to be afraid to talk, even though Hartley had been in jail for 18 months. The fear he and others may have had was never linked to this defendant, so any reference to him being the "area tough guy" only unfairly introduced his bad character.

ISSUE IV. Sidney Jones presented the most damning evidence against Hartley. He saw him put a gun to Mayhew's head, climb in the car with him, and take him away. Yet, his story of what he did afterwards is so incredible that one must wonder about the truth of his entire testimony. He claimed to have been a police informant actively seeking to bust drug dealers. Obviously his "good friend" Gino Mayhew was one because Jones helped him hawk his crack cocaine. He even was "paid" for it

with one rock of crack. Even though Jones claimed to have witnessed the abduction of Mayhew he never reported it until his arrest some two weeks later. At trial when defense counsel questioned him about his undercover work, Jones refused to give the name of the police officer who was his contact. The court sustained that refusal, yet it was error because all Hartley wanted to do was test the validity of this witness' testimony. If Jones admitted he had no police point of contact then, bingo, his credibility, already weak, would have been destroyed. On the other hand, if he had said that he worked with say, an Officer Smith, Hartley could have checked with him to confirm his dealings with Jones. Because evidence of the latter point would have directly contradicted Jones' testimony, it was relevant.

ISSUE V. During jury selection Hartley challenged the state's peremptory excusal of a black woman, Mrs. Theresa Sanford. When the court asked for the reason he had excused her, the prosecutor said initially that she was against the death penalty. He later said, however, the primary reason was that she was a psycho-therapist, and "I'm concerned she's too forgiving because of her line of work and understanding of human frailties." The court erred in sustaining the state's use of the peremptory challenge, first because there was scant evidence Ms. Sanford was opposed the death penalty. To the contrary, she said she could recommend capital punishment if the aggravating factors outweighed the mitigation. Second, the

state could point to no record evidence that this prospective juror was in any way a closet Mother Teresa. Without such support, it could not justify the use of the peremptory challenge.

ISSUE VI. The court, over defense objection, instructed the jury on the cold, calculated, and premeditated aggravating factor using the instruction this court had disapproved in Jackson v. State, 648 So. 2d 85 (Fla. 1994). Given the weak credibility of the state's witnesses such error could not be harmless. Moreover, as recent the United States Supreme Court has ruled in a similar issue, the harmless error analysis cannot be applied when the court gives an incorrect jury instruction on a key issue at trial.

ISSUE VII. The court, in sentencing Hartley to death, found that he had committed the murder in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner. It erred in doing so because it relied on evidence not admitted at Hartley's trial and for which the defendant had no notice of or opportunity to review. Additionally, if Hartley killed Mayhew to prevent a "pre-emptive" strike that certainly was a pretense of moral justification.

ISSUE VIII. The court found that Hartley committed the murder for pecuniary gain and during the course of a kidnapping. Finding both factors was an impermissible doubling because they focussed on the same aspect of the crime and the only reason for the kidnapping was to rob Gino Mayhew. There was no

"broader purpose" behind the abduction, and because there was not, the court improperly found both aggravators applied in this case.

ISSUE IX. The court also found Hartley committed the murder in an especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel manner. The only evidence supporting that aggravator was the court's finding that during the trip to the school Mayhew may have realized that the defendants planned more than a robbery. But, the court supported those findings in its sentencing order with few facts presented at trial, and what it did provide does not prove this aggravator existed beyond all reasonable doubts. There was no evidence of sufficient magnitude to prove Hartley mentally tortured the victim before his death for any significant period.

ISSUE X. The court also instructed the jury on the especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel aggravator. Even though the guidance given was more complete than that disapproved by the United States Supreme Court in Espinosa v. Florida, 505 U.S. \_\_\_ (1992) it still had the same problems as the former, unconstitutional instruction. Namely, the additional language provided no inherent restraint on the jury's discretion to recommend a life or death sentence. A juror could have reasonably believed every murder was "unnecessarily torturous" and concluded that all such crimes had an unnecessary amount of human suffering.

ISSUE XI. Finally, during jury selection, prospective juror

Goldman said he was doubtful he could recommend a death sentence. The court granted the state's cause challenge and excused him. That was error because although he may have been reluctant to return a death recommendation, he never said he would always support life regardless of the facts or the law. The evidence showed only that it would have been difficult for him to vote for death. That is very much different from saying he could never do so. Because he could vote for death, albeit reluctantly, the court erred in excusing him from sitting as a juror in this case.

## ARGUMENT

### ISSUE I

THE COURT ERRED IN ADMITTING THE STATEMENT OF A POLICE OFFICER THAT HE KNEW HARTLEY HAD ROBBED THE VICTIM TWO DAYS BEFORE THE MURDER AND THAT THE DEFENDANT HAD DENIED KNOWING GINO MAYHEW, IN VIOLATION OF HARTLEY'S FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT RIGHT TO A FAIR TRIAL.

The state filed a notice that it intended to introduce evidence that on April 20, 1991 (two days before the murder) Hartley had robbed Gino Mayhew (R 41, 313). At trial, the state sought to introduce the testimony of Quinn Baxter, a police officer, that he had arrested the defendant and Ronnie Ferrell for the April 22, 1991 murder of Mayhew. When Hartley denied knowing Mayhew, the detective told him that "we knew that on the Saturday, two days prior to the murder of Gino Mayhew that Mr. Hartley had robbed Gino Mayhew that was on April 20th, 1991, therefore we knew that he knew Gino Mayhew." (R 2172).

Defense counsel objected to introducing this testimony, and the state, arguing for its admission, said, "I'm introducing the evidence of Williams rule on the issue of credibility of this defendant to show that he was lying." (T 2158) He also said "I will concede motive is not the sole rationale, it's not the rationale for introducing Williams' rule, it is on the issue of knowledge." (T 2161) The court overruled Hartley's objection, finding that "the evidence in toto as summarized by [the prosecutor] is relevant and I think it comes within the purview of the William's Rule 90.404." (T

2166) The court erred, however, in that ruling because the evidence was, first, not Williams Rule evidence, and if it was, it lacked any similarities with the charged crime to make it sufficiently similar to justify its admission.

1. The evidence of the earlier robbery was not Williams Rule evidence.

The relevant portion of section 90.404 the court relied on provides:

- (2) Other crimes, wrongs, or acts.--
  - (a) Similar fact evidence of other crimes, wrongs, or acts is admissible when relevant to prove a material fact in issue, such as proof of motive, opportunity, intent, preparation, plan, knowledge, identity, or absence of mistake or accident, but it is inadmissible when the evidence is relevant solely to prove bad character or propensity.

For this portion of Hartley's argument, the key phrase is "similar fact evidence of other crimes." Here the state presented only Detective Baxter's allegation that "we knew that on the Saturday, two days prior to the murder of Gino Mayhew that Mr. Hartley had robbed Gino Mayhew." (T 2172) It presented an inadmissible allegation, not "similar fact evidence." Thus, for at least that reason, the court erred in not requiring at least some further evidence beyond a mere allegation that the defendant had robbed the Mayhew previously. Several cases with facts very similar or less egregious to those in this case support Hartley's argument.

In Dibble v. State, 347 So. 2d 1096 (Fla. 2d DCA 1977), a

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