# FILED

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SID J. WHITE

OCT 10 1995

CLERK, SUPREME COURT Ðv Chilef Deputy Clerk

KENNETH WAYNE HARTLEY,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. 83,021

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, FLORIDA

## ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

CURTIS M. FRENCH ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 291692

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 23299-1050

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

##

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

### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Hartley raises 11 issues on appeal: (1) Testimony about the armed robbery of Gino Mayhew two days before he was murdered was admitted to show Hartley's quilty knowledge and his attempt to deceive the police. Since this evidence was not offered as similar fact evidence, similarity is not an issue. Hartley misstates the evidence when he contends that only the police officer's testimony links Hartley to the robbery; two other witnesses testified that Hartley admitted committing the robbery. (2) Hartley concedes that the hearsay testimony of Ronald Wright (concerning an alleged confession to this crime by Hank Evans) was properly excluded as a matter of state law, but contends that the Constitution compels the introduction of such evidence. At the hearing on the state' motion to exclude Wright's testimony, Evans testified under oath that he had neither confessed to nor committed this crime, and the stated offered the testimony of numerous witnesses proving that Wright and Hartley had concocted Evans' alleged confession. Furthermore, the "facts" contained in the confession are inconsistent with the physical evidence and the eyewitness testimony in this case. The Constitution does not prohibit the exclusion of untrustworthy and uncorroborated hearsay evidence of a third party confession. (3) Hartley concedes that the prosecutor was entitled to explain that some of the state's witnesses delayed coming forward because they were Hartley contends only that the witnesses' fear was not afraid. The evidence shows otherwise. Furthermore, the linked to him. only objection at trial was to the prosecutor's opening

statement, not to the introduction of evidence or to closing argument on the subject of witness fear. (4) The trial court did not abuse its discretion by excluding as irrelevant the name of the police officer Sidney Jones reported to. The defense never contended at trial that Jones did not really report to anyone. Moreover, Jones had supplied the defense with the officer's name before trial, and if the defense had wanted to contact that officer, it could have done so. (5) Prospective juror Stanford's opposition to the death penalty was a legitimate, race neutral reason supporting the state's peremptory strike. (6) Hartley has not preserved for appeal any issue of the validity of the CCP Moreover, any error is instruction delivered at his trial. strong aggravation harmless in light of the and minimal The evidence supports the trial court's mitigation. (7) determination that this preplanned robbery/kidnapping/murder was cold, calculated and premeditated beyond a reasonable doubt. (8) The kidnapping and pecuniary gain aggravators were not based on the same essential feature of Hartley's crime, and it was proper to consider them separately. In any event, any error was (9) This murder was heinous, atrocious or cruel. harmless. Mayhew was abducted at gunpoint, forced to drive to an isolated He was shot at least twice while location, and then killed. conscious, before the fatal wounds were still alive and inflicted. The evidence establishes the requisite agony, foreknowledge of death, extreme anxiety and fear to support the HAC finding. (10) Hartley has not preserved for appeal any issue of the validity of the HAC instructions delivered at his trial.

Moreover, the instructions were sufficient. In any event, any error relating to the findings of any of the aggravators complained about on appeal is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. Even if this Court accepts every argument made by Hartley on appeal relating to the trial court's findings in aggravation, there would remain three strong aggravators (prior violent felony, kidnapping, and avoid arrest) and minimal mitigation. (11) Prospective juror Goldman was properly excused for cause. He admitted, and his statements in their entirety show, that his feelings about the death penalty would substantially impair his ability to vote for a death sentence.

#### ARGUMENT

#### ISSUE I

## WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED REVERSIBLY IN ADMITTING A STATEMENT BY A POLICE OFFICER CONCERNING A ROBBERY COMMITTED AGAINST MAYHEW TWO DAYS BEFORE HE WAS MURDERED

The State filed pretrial notice of its intention to present evidence that Hartley had participated in an earlier robbery of Gino Mayhew (R 41, 313). Hartley raised no opposition to the introduction of such evidence until immediately before Detective Baxter testified about his interrogation of Hartley (R 2155). Hartley's trial attorney explained that he had not objected earlier to the extrinsic-crime evidence because he had thought it was going to be introduced to prove motive; if it was offered for other some reason, he was not sure "that there is any relationship between the two" crimes (R 2156-57). The State explained that it was offering the testimony of Detective Baxter to prove that Hartley falsely represented to the police that he did not even know Gino Mayhew (R 2159-60). The State pointed out that Ronald Bronner and Eric Brooks would testify about statements made by Hartley concerning the first robbery, in which Hartley admitted robbing Gino Mayhew and, therefore, that he did in fact know Mayhew (R 2159-60). Proof that Hartley tried to "deceive the police," the State contended, would be relevant evidence of quilt (R 2166). Based on the foregoing, the trial court overruled the objection, finding "that the evidence in toto as summarized by Mr. Bateh is relevant and I think it comes within the purview of the Williams Rule 90.404 and I overrule the objection" (R 2166). Hartley's trial attorney asked for, and was

- 16 -

granted, a continuing objection relative to "my position" concerning the admissibility of "this first robbery" (R 2167). In addition, after the State rested, the defense moved for a mistrial, complaining primarily about the testimony of Detective Baxter (R 2279-80). The trial court denied the motion, noting that, regardless of Detective Baxter's testimony, the testimony of Bronner and Brooks about the prior robbery was "in any event" admissible, relevant evidence in this case (R 2281-82).

The combined testimony of these three witnesses implicates both relevance and hearsay. Notably, however, no hearsay objection was interposed at trial, and no hearsay issue is raised on appeal. Moreover, the objection on appeal is limited to the testimony of Detective Baxter; the testimony of Bronner and Brooks concerning the earlier robbery is ignored.

Although no issue is raised on appeal as to the testimony of Bronner and Brooks concerning Hartley's statements, the State would note that, generally, "evidence of a defendant's out-ofcourt exculpatory statements ... is admissible as an admission under section 90.803 (18) if offered by the prosecution." Ehrhardt, <u>Florida Evidence</u>, §801.3, pp. 575-76 (1995 ed.). The references to the prior robbery in Hartley's initial statements to Bronner and Brooks were integral and inseparable components of those statements; i.e., the robbery was offered by Hartley to explain why he had not committed murder. In addition, Hartley's admission to Brooks and Bronner he had previously robbed Mayhew was inconsistent with his claim to the police that he did know even know Mayhew. The inconsistencies in his various statements were "relevant to show that appellant had attempted to avoid detection by lying to the police," <u>Smith v. State</u>, 424 So.2d 726, 730 (Fla. 1983), and were properly offered "to affirmatively show consciousness of guilt and unlawful intent." <u>State v. Frazier</u>, 407 So.2d 1087 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982). <u>See also Blair v. State</u>, 406 So.2d 1103, 1106-07 (Fla. 1981) (defendant's statements were admissions or declarations which sought to provide an explanation of innocence; fact that they were inconsistent "shows not only guilty knowledge but also the very real intent to cover up the fact that ... [victim's] death was the result of his criminal agency").

From the foregoing, it may be concluded that the statements made by Hartley to Brooks and Bronner admitting he had robbed Mayhew two days before Mayhew was murdered, as well as the statement by Hartley to Detective Baxter denying that he even knew Mayhew, were all properly admitted. In any event, the only issue preserved for appeal is a Williams Rule objection to Detective Baxter's testimony about his own accusation to Hartley that "I told him that we knew that on the Saturday, two days prior of [sic] the murder of Gino Mayhew that Mr. Hartley had robbed Gino Mayhew that was on April 20th, 1991, therefore we knew that he knew Gino Mayhew" (R 2172). Although Hartley calls this testimony an "inadmissible allegation," no hearsay issue is raised or preserved for appeal. (The State would note, however, that insofar as the hearsay rule is concerned, this accusation arguably was necessary to place in context Hartley's response to this accusation -- "He denied doing the robbery on that Saturday and he again denied knowing Gino Mayhew"--and was properly admitted to show the effect on Hartley rather than for the truth of those comments. <u>See Breedlove v. State</u>, 413 So.2d 1, 6-7 (Fla. 1982).

Hartley's <u>Williams</u> Rule objections to Detective Baxter's testimony are without merit. His argument that the only evidence linking the first robbery to this case is "the officer's allegation," Appellant's Brief at pp. 21-21, completely ignores Hartley's own admissions to the crime, made to Brooks and Bronner. The trial court based its ruling on these statements, too, not just on what Detective Baxter had to say. The evidence considered by the trial court was sufficient to identify Hartley as a participant in the first robbery. <u>Huddleston v. United States</u>, 485 U.S. 681, 684, 108 S.Ct. 1496, 99 L.Ed.2d 771 (1988) (interpreting comparable federal rule of evidence).

"similarity" issue, Hartley's cited As to the cases demanding "strikingly similar" collateral offenses are cases in which the State offered similar fact evidence to prove identity by proof of a distinctive modus operandi. E.g. Drake v. State, 400 So.2d 1217, 1219 (Fla. 1981) ("The mode of operating theory of proving identity is based on both the similarity of and the unusual nature of the factual situations being compared. A mere general similarity will not render the similar facts legally relevant to show identity."). These cases are inapposite. "Similar fact evidence relevant to prove a material fact other than identity need not meet the rigid similarity requirement applied when collateral crimes are used to prove identity."

<u>Gould v. State</u>, 558 So.2d 481, 485 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990). Lesser degrees of similarity might suffice in other situations. <u>Calloway v. State</u>, 520 So.2d 665, 668 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988). In fact, evidence of collateral crimes need not necessarily be similar at all. Factually dissimilar crimes may be admitted if relevant. <u>Bryan v. State</u>, 533 So.2d 744, 746 (Fla. 1988); <u>Finney</u> <u>v. State</u>, 20 Fla. L. Weekly S401, 403 (Fla. July 20, 1995).

In this case, although there are similarities between the first robbery and the robbery/murder on trial (same defendant, same victim, robbery involved in both instances), similarity really is not an issue, because the statements at issue here were not offered as "similar fact" evidence. Instead, Hartley's own statements about the prior robbery were "integrally connected" to his inconsistent exculpatory statements about the murder. Layman v. State, 652 So.2d 373, 375 (Fla. 1993) (extrinsic crimes defendant had committed against murder victim were "integrally connected" to her murder, because defendant told police that while he was in jail for extrinsic crimes, he had plotted The references to the prior robbery were victim's murder). necessary to complete the story of the crime on trial, and were properly admitted over a Williams Rule objection. Griffin v. State, 639 So.2d 966, 968-69 (Fla. 1994); Padilla v. State, 618 So.2d 165, 169 (Fla. 1993). In addition, his statements linked him to the victim. See Gorham v. State, 454 So.2d 556, 558 (Fla. 1984) ("The evidence adduced by the prosecution witnesses did not bring before the jury unrelated bad acts of the appellant, rather it served to link the appellant to the victim circumstantially.")

The State would emphasize that it is not contending it would be proper to accuse a defendant of committing a completely unrelated crime, and then when he denies it, offer evidence that the defendant did commit the crime just to prove he is a liar generally. See Appellant's Brief at p. 23 (fn. 2). The prior robbery of Gino Mayhew was not an unrelated crime--it was an essential element of his various inconsistent statements about his guilt in <u>this</u> case.

In any event, Hartley does not complain about the testimony of Brooks and Bronner that Hartley admitted committing the prior Even if the trial court erred for any reason in robbery. admitting the testimony of Detective Baxter in reference to the prior armed robbery, such testimony was merely cumulative to the testimony of Brooks and Bronner about the same event. Therefore any error as to the testimony of Detective Baxter is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. DiGuilio, 491 So.2d 1129 Furthermore, the combined testimony of Brooks, (Fla. 1986). Bronner and Baxter about the prior robbery amounts to a mere three sentences in a guilt-phase evidentiary presentation that fills over 300 pages of the trial transcript. The prosecutor made minimal reference to the prior robbery in his closing argument, as Hartley's own brief demonstrates. Appellant's brief at p. 23. Given the substantial evidence of guilt, including the eyewitness testimony concerning Hartley's participation in this crime, as well as Hartley's confessions to the kidnap/robbery/murder, any inadmissible reference to the prior armed robbery was harmless. Craig v. State, 585 So.2d 278 (Fla.

- 21 -

1991) (evidence of defendant's drug use the night of the murder should have been excluded, but error harmless because of other substantial evidence of guilt); <u>Burr v. State</u>, 576 So.2d 278 (Fla. 1991) (evidence of unrelated collateral act by defendant should have been excluded, but error harmless in of other overwhelming evidence of guilt); <u>Haliburton v. State</u>, 561 So.2d 248 (Fla. 1990) (evidence of unrelated prior rape should have been excluded, but error harmless because of compelling nature of state's case); <u>Castro v. State</u>, 547 So.2d 111 (Fla. 1989) (unrelated prior crime should have been excluded, but error harmless, in light of totality of evidence, including defendant's own confession).

#### ISSUE II

## WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN EXCLUDING THE HEARSAY TESTIMONY OF RONALD WRIGHT CONCERNING AN ALLEGED CONFESSION BY HANK EVANS

Three months before trial, the State filed a motion in limine to exclude the testimony of Ronald Wright concerning a confession allegedly made to him by one Hank Evans, on the ground that Wright's testimony would be inadmissible hearsay. In particular, the State contended, Wright's testimony would not be admissible under the declaration-against-penal-interest exception to the hearsay rule. §90.804(2) (c), Fla. Stat. (1990). Hartley conceded that Wright's testimony was inadmissible under Florida law (R 1454-55). Nevertheless, he argued that Wright's testimony should be admitted as a matter of constitutional due process, citing <u>Chambers v. Mississippi</u>, 410 U.S. 284, 93 S.Ct. 1038, 35 L.Ed.2d 297 (1973). After hearing evidence and argument, the trial court granted the State's motion in limine (R 348, 363-369).

On appeal, Hartley once again concedes that Wright's testimony was properly excluded under Florida law. Appellant's Brief at p. 30. The only issue presented on appeal is whether Wright's testimony should have been admitted notwithstanding its inadmissibility under State law, under a Chambers due process The primary basis for the trial court's rejection of rationale. Hartley's Chambers due process argument was the unreliability and untrustworthiness of Wright's testimony, and the lack of any corroboration of Hank Evans' alleged confession. The evidence on which the trial court based its ruling supports the exclusion of Wright's testimony. Because most of the relevant testimony, including Evans' alleged statement, is omitted from Hartley's discussion of this issue, the State will first address the evidentiary basis for the court's ruling.

#### (A) THE HEARING ON THE MOTION IN LIMINE

Hartley offered the deposition of Ronald Wright. Wright has been incarcerated since June of 1991 (SR 9). In November of 1991, Wright sent a letter to Hartley's attorney concerning information he claimed to have about Hartley's case (SR 61). He refused, however, to give sworn testimony about this information until his own pending cases had been disposed of (SR 250, 259; R 1315). On April 12, 1993, he finally gave a sworn deposition, in which he claimed that in late October or early November of 1991, Hank Evans had confessed to the murder of Gino Mayhew (SR 22).

- 23 -

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